**RECEIVED**

**Apr 07 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001510

---

Elizabeth M. Ferraro, James T. Ferraro, Edward J. Przybyl,  
Marcella Gleie, John E. Gleie, Jr., Thomas Bowes, Connie  
Bowes, Moataz Alasadi, Virginia Kirkwood, Bob Kirkwood,  
Paul Vichroski, Nydza Vichroski, James Montellese, and  
Roxann Montellese, Individually, Derivatively, and on Behalf of  
All the Mount Vintage Homeowners Association Members . . . . . Respondents,

v.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether the trial court's decision that Appellant Raiford Topsail Island Investments, LLC acquired developer rights in the Mount Vintage community constitutes reversible error.
- II. Whether the trial court's decision divesting Appellant LL of SC, LLC of its property rights and interests in Mount Vintage—including developer rights, expressly acquired by a deed in lieu of foreclosure from the community's prior developer, constitutes reversible error.
- III. Whether the trial court's failure to apply the doctrine of merger to uphold the developer rights that Appellant LL of SC, LLC acquired in Mount Vintage by virtue of accepting a deed in lieu of foreclosure from the community's prior developer constitutes reversible error.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the trial court's grant of a motion for partial summary judgment in Respondents' favor, issued on the eve of trial, which errantly found that developer rights to an upscale residential community vested in the wrong party, by virtue of an underlying transactional history that involved foreclosure proceedings, a lis pendens, a deed in lieu of foreclosure, and a foreclosure sale. In light of the causes of action alleged, the identity of the holder of developer rights, as established by the chain through which those rights were conveyed, is of critical importance to the prosecution of, and defense against, Respondents' claim.

The underlying action commenced with the filing of the initial complaint on June 5, 2020. (R. 17.) The complaint has been amended three times since. (R. 41, 149 & 181.)

A jury trial was set to commence on September 16, 2024. (R. 7.) Among the issues to be tried were Respondents' actions against Appellants for negligence and negligent development, and breach of fiduciary duty.

However, in relevant part, on August 16, 2024, Respondents filed a motion for partial summary judgment on the issue of who—as between Appellant LL of SC, LLC and Appellant Raiford Topsail Island Investments, LLC—held the very developer rights that were at the heart of the case to be imminently tried. (R. 647.) By order dated September 4, 2024, and over Appellants' objections, the trial court granted Respondents' motion for partial summary judgment, concluding that Appellant Raiford Topsail Island Investments, LLC had acquired developer rights as a result of the culmination of

foreclosure proceedings in 2013. (R. 1.) That same day, Appellants filed a notice of appeal.

Two days later—on September 6, 2024—the trial court entered an additional Form 4, by which the court concluded that its jurisdiction to try the underlying case had not been affected by Appellants’ filing of the notice of appeal, (R. 4); in other words, trial would commence as scheduled the following week. Appellants immediately filed a petition for stay or supersedeas with this Court. On September 10, 2024, this Court denied the petition and dismissed the appeal on the basis that the September 4 order was not sufficiently final for purposes of appellate review. Specifically, this Court observed that the trial court’s September 4 order directed Respondents’ counsel to prepare a more formal order, and that had not happened.

During the afternoon of September 10, 2024, and as an accommodation to Appellants, the trial court revised its September 4 order to withdraw the directive to Respondents’ counsel to prepare a more formal order. (R. 7.) Accordingly, the revised order—dated September 10, which is the order from which this appeal is taken—was sufficiently final for appellate review. On the afternoon of September 10, 2024, and immediately upon the trial court’s entry of the revised order, Appellants filed this second notice of appeal. (R. 1021.) The following day, September 11, Appellants filed a renewed petition to stay or for supersedeas. (R. 1026.)

By order entered September 13, 2024, this Court granted a temporary stay of proceedings in the lower court—to include the trial of this matter—pending further briefing from the parties. (R. 11.) Then, on October 9, 2024, this Court formally granted

Appellants' petition to stay or for supersedeas, suspending further activity in the trial court until the disposition of these appellate proceedings. (R. 13.)

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The underlying action is a dispute arising from the development of an upscale residential community located in Edgefield County. The community is known as Mount Vintage. Respondents are residents of Mount Vintage. They have brought suit against LL of SC, LLC (“**LLSC**”), Raiford Topsail Island Investments, LLC (“**Topsail**”), and TR Sales Plantation, LLC (“**TR Sales**”), as well as the Mount Vintage Plantation Homeowners Association, Inc. (“**the HOA**”), under various legal and equitable theories.

LLSC is the holder of developer rights within Mount Vintage.<sup>1</sup> (R. 46 at ¶ 35; R. 79-80 at ¶ 36.) Topsail is a wholly owned subsidiary of LLSC. (R. 722.) TR Sales is a company that has provided various support services for LLSC and Mount Vintage.

Respondents have brought suit against LLSC, Topsail, and TR Sales under various legal and equitable theories for Appellants’ allegedly wrongful conduct pertaining to Mount Vintage; the legal theories include negligence and negligent development, and breach of fiduciary duty. Because of these legal theories, it is critical for Respondents to establish which Appellants owed duties to Respondents, in their capacity as homeowners, and what wrongful acts are capable of attribution to the pertinent Appellant, in order for liability to be established. (R. 1319.) These appellate proceedings were necessitated by the September order of the trial court that errantly injected Topsail into the chain of holders of developer rights at Mount Vintage.<sup>2</sup>

The Mount Vintage community was established in the mid-to-late 1990s. (R. 45 at ¶ 28.) LLSC did not acquire developer rights until 2013. (R. 666.) The developer

---

<sup>1</sup> This proposition, however, is the central issue of these appellate proceedings.

<sup>2</sup> The reason why this decision constitutes prejudicial error is discussed below in Argument Section IV.

immediately preceding LLSC (who was not the initial developer, either) obtained a loan from LLSC in 2010 in the amount of \$2,500,000.00. (R. 666 & 709.) In relevant part, the loan was secured by a priority, first-position mortgage given in favor of LLSC, in which the mortgagor pledged the totality of its property rights and interests in Mount Vintage as collateral. (R. 662-63 at ¶ 12; R. 666.) The mortgage was duly recorded in the property records of Edgefield County.

By the latter half of 2012, the mortgagor was in default of its loan obligations to LLSC. Accordingly, on October 23, 2012, LLSC commenced a debt collection and foreclosure action against the debtor-developer. (R. 659.) At the same time as the foreclosure complaint was filed, LLSC also caused a lis pendens to be duly recorded. (R. 653.)

During the course of the foreclosure action, the debtor-developer gave LLSC a deed in lieu of foreclosure “in full satisfaction of any and all debt evidenced by” the aforementioned mortgage. (R. 666.) The deed in lieu expressly conveyed all the debtor’s developer rights in Mount Vintage to LLSC. The deed in lieu was executed on September 13, 2013, was accepted by LLSC that same day, and that same day, was duly recorded in the property records of Edgefield County.

However, despite having accepted the debtor-developer’s deed in lieu, LLSC was concerned that other, subordinate liens (or claims of liens) may exist that would impair LLSC’s rights to transfer any of the parcels of real property it had just acquired through the deed in lieu.<sup>3</sup> Accordingly, on November 4, 2013, and pursuant to a previously issued order of foreclosure entered by the special referee, a foreclosure sale was held. (R.

---

<sup>3</sup> See the discussion below in Argument Section III.D.

679.) LLSC attended the foreclosure sale, and was the winning bidder. After the conclusion of the foreclosure sale, LLSC paid the funds required to perfect its winning bid, and further, filed an assignment of bid requesting that the referee's deed convey any property that was acquired by LLSC at the foreclosure sale to Topsail, (R. 678). The assignment of bid was executed by an individual named J. Wayne Raiford, who is identified as a member of LLSC. Mr. Raiford was also a member of Topsail.<sup>4</sup>

In any event, on November 11, 2013, the special referee executed a foreclosure deed in favor of Topsail. (R. 680.) The deed was duly recorded in the Edgefield County property records on November 18, 2013.

Since September 13, 2013, with the acceptance of the deed in lieu, and continuing to the present, LLSC has understood itself to be the sole and exclusive holder of developer rights within Mount Vintage. (R. 1127 at ¶ 6.) It has acted as developer. The covenants recognize LLSC as developer. (R. 586.) Even Respondents have acknowledged LLSC's status as developer. (R. 732.)

However, on September 10, 2024—within one week before the trial of this matter was set to commence—the trial court entered an order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents, holding that the special referee's deed of November 13, 2013 not only superseded LLSC's deed in lieu, but nullified it, resulting in the circumstance whereby Topsail—and not LLSC—was the holder of developer rights in Mount Vintage. (R. 7; see also R. 647.)

This appeal followed.

---

<sup>4</sup> Topsail did not become a wholly owned subsidiary of LLSC until the following month. (R. 722.)

## ARGUMENT

The trial court's Order acknowledging developer rights in Topsail and divesting LLSC of the rights it acquired by deed in lieu, and all in derogation of the transactional history and applicable law, constitutes prejudicial error and must be reversed.

### **I. IDENTIFICATION OF RELEVANT PORTION OF ORDER FROM WHICH APPEAL IS TAKEN**

The order from which this appeal is taken is set out on a Form 4 dated September 10, 2024 (“**the Order**”). Because it is short, the relevant portion of the Order is quoted in its entirety:

Based upon the deed in lieu of foreclosure (09/13/13), the assignment of bid (11/18/13), the Master's report (11/18/13), the Special Referee's deed (11/18/13) corrective Special Referee's deed (8/4/14), the Court finds that LL of SC assigned “developer's rights” to Raiford Topsail Island Investments during this period of time and accordingly grants Plaintiff's [sic] motion for partial summary judgment that LL of SC assigned its developer's rights to Raiford Topsail Island Investments during this period. The Court makes no further findings or rulings other than as stated. No formal order is requested. Trial is set for September 16, 2024 in Edgefield County.

(R. 9.)

The trial court's construction of each of the documents cited above constitutes reversible error.<sup>5</sup> Topsail has never been in the chain of holders of developer rights for the Mount Vintage community, and did not receive an assignment of such rights by virtue of the transactional history relied upon by the Order.

---

<sup>5</sup> The trial court has indicated that its decision rests on the legal construction of the documents and instruments referenced. To the extent the trial court's decision was based on any application of disputed facts, then this by itself should have resulted in the denial of Respondents' motion for partial summary judgment.

## **II. THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS DE NOVO.**

As a general proposition, deeds are subject to the same rules of construction as contracts.<sup>6</sup> See, e.g., Rhodes v. Black, 170 S.C. 193, 170 S.E. 158 (1933). “In construing or interpreting a contract, it is axiomatic that the main concern of the court is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties. . . . If a contract’s language is plain, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation, no construction is required and the contract’s language determines the instrument’s force and effect.” Portrait Homes-S.C., LLC v. Penn. Nat’l Mut. Cas. Ins. Co., 442 S.C. 515, 577-78, 900 S.E.2d 245, 279 (Ct. App. 2023) (citations and internal quotations omitted). The interpretation of an unambiguous contract is a question of law, and the appropriate standard of review is de novo. See, e.g., Baugh v. Columbia Heart Clinic, P.A., 402 S.C. 1, 12, 738 S.E.2d 480, 486 (Ct. App. 2013) (citations omitted).<sup>7</sup>

## **III. THE TRIAL COURT’S HOLDING THAT TOPSAIL ACQUIRED DEVELOPER RIGHTS IN THE MOUNT VINTAGE COMMUNITY BY VIRTUE OF THE FORECLOSURE SALE CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE ERROR.**

To divest LLSC of the developer rights it obtained through by deed in lieu, the trial court’s Order ostensibly held that LLSC’s continuation of foreclosure proceedings through sale nullified the deed in lieu, because the deed in lieu was given after LLSC’s lis pendens attached to the property that secured its debt. These conclusions constitute legal error and must be reversed.

---

<sup>6</sup> A deed-in-lieu of foreclosure would seem to fit equally in each category. See, e.g., Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Fallgatter, 2006 WL 562202, at \*4 (Cal. Ct. App. Mar. 9, 2006) (unpublished opinion) (“A deed in lieu is a contractual transaction . . .”).

<sup>7</sup> To the extent the trial court’s Order could be construed as equitable in nature, the standard would remain de novo. See, e.g., Sloan v. Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 546, 590 S.E.2d 338, 346 (Ct. App. 2003).

**A. The purposes and limitations of the lis pendens mechanism.**

A lis pendens does not create, or otherwise evidence, the filing party's ownership of an interest in land. "The purpose of a notice of pendency of an action is to inform a purchaser or encumbrancer that a particular piece of real property is subject to litigation" that may affect the owner's title. Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole, 351 S.C. 1, 16-17, 567 S.E.2d 881, 889 (Ct. App. 2002). The validity of an adverse party's claim of ownership against the affected property may be established, if at all, by developments in subsequent legal proceedings. Accordingly, a properly filed lis pendens notifies potential purchasers of an adverse claim against the ownership of the property being considered for purchase, and that such a purchaser—if he elects to proceed with the transaction—will be bound by all proceedings "evolving from the litigation," S.C. Nat'l Bank v. Cook, 291 S.C. 530, 532, 354 S.E.2d 562, 562 (1987), "to the same extent as if he were made a party to the action," S.C. Code § 15-11-20; see also Horry County v. Ray, 382 S.C. 76, 80-81, 674 S.E.2d 519, 522 (Ct. App. 2009).

**B. The purposes and limitations of settling a foreclosure action by accepting a deed in lieu.**

"A deed given by the [mortgagor] to the [mortgagee] to avoid the inconveniences suffered on both sides by a formal foreclosure is often called a 'deed in lieu of foreclosure' or a 'deed in lieu.'" Decon Group, Inc. v. Prudential Mortg. Cap. Co., 227 Cal. App. 4th 665, 670 (Cal. Ct. App. 2014) (citation and internal quotation omitted). "The deed in lieu of foreclosure may be advantageous to both parties by, for example, allowing the [mortgagee] to avoid the delays and costs of foreclosure and saving the [mortgagor] to some extent the embarrassment and impaired credit rating a public foreclosure sale produces." Id. (citation, internal quotations, and internal alterations

omitted). “The Restatement Third of Property, Mortgages (Restatement Third) describes this transaction as a commonly used and socially desirable foreclosure substitute.” Id. (quoting Restatement (Third) of Property, Mortgages, § 8.5, cmt. b.).

“A deed in lieu is, for a great many purposes, the functional equivalent of a formal foreclosure. A deed in lieu essentially involves an alternate method of the collection of security. The lender accepting a deed in lieu, just like the lender exercising strict foreclosure, has the security interest mature into real ownership without any requirement of public sale. Perhaps most importantly, the deed in lieu is, in effect, the settlement of foreclosure litigation. The deed in lieu therefore can be the business equivalent of formal foreclosure.” Maloney v. Boston Five Cents Sav. Bank FSB, 663 N.E.2d 811, 813 (Mass. 1996) (internal citations and quotations omitted). “The mortgagor’s ordinary expectation in giving a deed in lieu of foreclosure (unless otherwise provided for by agreement) is that the mortgagee is taking the deed in satisfaction of the debt and to save the expenses of a judicial foreclosure. Meaning, all rights in the property are supposed to transfer to the mortgage lender at the time the deed in lieu of foreclosure is executed, unless otherwise provided for by agreement between the parties.” Kunesch v. Andover Twp., 32 N.J. Tax 407, 417 (2021) (internal citation, quotation, and alterations omitted).

“A deed in lieu of foreclosure may carry potential risks, however . . . .” Decon Group, 227 Cal. App. 4th at 670. One such risk arises when there are junior encumbrances against the property. Whereas a traditional foreclosure—in which title passes through a foreclosure sale—ordinarily extinguishes subordinate liens, the same is not true with respect to deeds in lieu. In fact, the rule is just the opposite: a party who

takes title to property through a deed in lieu does so subject to any existing junior encumbrances. Accordingly, it has been said that “an experienced and careful lender will only rarely find the acceptance of a deed in lieu of foreclosure to be an appropriate avenue for settling or concluding a foreclosure action.” CIT Bank, N.A. v. Buono, 2019 WL 5895473, at \*2 n.3 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 8, 2019) (unpublished decision) (quoting 3 Bergman on New York Mortgage Foreclosures § 25.09 (2019)). To properly guard his security against the risks of persistent subordinate liens—be they known or unknown, it may be necessary and appropriate for an “experienced and careful lender” who wishes to accept a deed in lieu of foreclosure to also continue its pursuit of a foreclosure action through its traditional conclusion—a sale. See, e.g., Fed. Land Bank of Wichita v. Colo. Nat’l Bank of Denver, 786 P.2d 514 (Colo. Ct. App. 1989) (affirming decision of trial court that lender who had accepted a deed in lieu from debtor could maintain foreclosure action to extinguish junior liens).

**C. A lender’s acceptance of a deed in lieu implicates the doctrine of merger.**

“Ordinarily, when equitable and legal titles unite in the same person, merger occurs and the equitable encumbrance ceases to exist.” First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n of S.C. v. Finn, 300 S.C. 228, 231, 387 S.E.2d 253, 254 (1998) (quoting Thompson v. Hudgens, 161 S.C. 450, 159 S.E. 807 (1931)). In other words, when a mortgage lender accepts a deed to the very same property that has been pledged as security for indebtedness, it may be the case that the mortgage has been extinguished, and that the lender has been promoted to the status of owner.

However, as with all things in the law, the proper view of the foregoing proposition is “it depends.” And there is authority in South Carolina on this very point.

In McCraney v. Morris, 170 S.C. 250, 170 S.E. 276 (1933), a mortgage foreclosure action was resolved by plaintiff's acceptance of a deed from defendant in satisfaction of the debt—a deed in lieu. However, after plaintiff accepted the deed in lieu, plaintiff discovered that there were two subordinate lienholders. One lienholder's interest was established by a second mortgage; the other's was established by a judgment. It was the argument of these junior lienholders (and mainly, the second mortgagee) that plaintiff's acceptance of the deed in lieu constituted a merger, such that plaintiff's lien was extinguished, resulting in the elevation of each junior lien's priority, with the second mortgagee becoming the first. In short, because of merger, the second mortgagee could foreclose against the property that plaintiff had just acquired by deed in lieu; and, if plaintiff wished to protect her newly acquired property from the second mortgagee's foreclosure, she would have to also satisfy the second mortgagee's outstanding interests.

Although the position of the junior lienholders prevailed in the lower court, the decision was reversed on appeal. An extended quote from the Supreme Court's opinion explains why:

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