RECEIVED

Apr 25 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001510
Circuit Court Case No.: 2021-CP-19-00050

Elizabeth M. Ferraro, James T. Ferraro, Edward J. Przybyl,
Marcella Gleie, John E. Gleie, Jr., Thomas Bowes, Connie Bowes,
Moataz Alasadi, Virginia Kirkwood, Bob Kirkwood, Paul Vichroski,
Nydza Vichroski, James Montellese, Roxann Montellese,
Individually, Derivatively, and on Behalf of all the Mount Vintage
Homeowners Association Members,.....Respondents,

v.

LL of SC, LLC, Raiford Topsail Island Investments, LLC, TR Sales

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

Appellants assert that “*McCraney* was a victory for the plaintiff in the sense that her superior title to the property acquired by deed in lieu was upheld by the Supreme Court,” but that in order to receive a clean title, she could have avoided the situation by taking a deed in lieu and completing the foreclosure process. (*See* App. Br. at 19). That is not what the Court found. There was no “underlying foreclosure action” in process when the plaintiff (*McCraney*) took a deed in lieu. *McCraney* took a deed in lieu and filed a satisfaction of mortgage; discovered junior liens; repudiated the deed in lieu and the mortgage satisfaction; and instituted foreclosure proceedings. Ultimately, the Court allowed the plaintiff to repudiate the deed in lieu and *instead* proceed to foreclosure in order to obtain clear title to the property in question. *McCraney v. Morris*, 170 S.C. 250, 170 S.E. 276, 279 (1933). Citing the contrary intention exception to the doctrine of merger,

the Court found that the plaintiff's acceptance of the deed in lieu and her subsequent release of the mortgage lien was a mistake, and that reviving her priority mortgage lien in the instant foreclosure action would not operate to harm the junior lienholders, as their liens were always subordinate to the plaintiff's. (*See id.* at 279).

McCraney, a South Carolina case, supports Respondents' position that a party who accepts a deed in lieu but proceeds to a foreclosure is ultimately electing to take title via the foreclosure. It also supports the premise that a contrary intention can defeat merger, but that merger cannot exist without extinguishment.

IV. By Proceeding with the Foreclosure Action, Appellants Either Nullified or Superseded the Deed in Lieu

By proceeding with the judicially ordered foreclosure sale after "accepting" a Deed in Lieu—for the express purpose of obtaining "clear and marketable title to the Mount Vintage property" (*see* App. Br. at 16)—Appellants elected to achieve ownership of the Property and Rights in Mount Vintage through the Foreclosure Action. It is unnecessary for this Court, or for the trial court, to determine whether the Deed in Lieu was repudiated, nullified, or superseded, because the end result is the same: a Special Referee Deed was issued to RTI for all Property and Rights in Mount Vintage; K&H no longer had a right of redemption; and all junior liens filed subsequently to the 2012 Lis Pendens were closed out.

Here, Judge McIntosh recognized that a senior lienholder who proceeds with a foreclosure sale effectively rejects, repudiates, or supersedes a deed *in lieu of* foreclosure:

THE COURT:

What's the affect [sic] of proceeding, or deciding, to go forward with your foreclosure in lieu of accepting the deed in lieu? I mean, I thought a lot of times – and I'm just throwing this out there—

ATTORNEY BUCKINGHAM:

Sure.

THE COURT: --you have shareholder saying I'm going to get a deficiency judgment against you. I say I want to give you a deed in lieu if you don't get a deficiency judgment. They say too bad, we're getting a deficiency judgment anyway. Those are the kind of things that happen out there. So at that point when the foreclosure goes forward, the whole kit and caboodle goes back over to the mortgagee, right?

ATTORNEY BUCKINGHAM: Yes.
[...]

THE COURT: But again under the example I gave you, if I'm trying to avoid having a deficiency against myself I'll give you a deed in lieu of property, waive deficiency. No, we're not going to do that, we'll go forward. So that means they don't accept the deed in lieu and they go forward with their rights under the foreclosure.

ATTORNEY BUCKINGHAM: That's right.

(See R. 331:5-17; R. 334:6-12).³²

The Deed in Lieu may have transferred all Property and Rights in Mount Vintage to LL for a short period of time (September 3, 2013 until November 11, 2013), subject to the resolution of the recorded lis pendens. (See R. 320:25-321:7). However, any conveyance K&H made of the Property and Rights during that time was made subject to the resolution of the Foreclosure Action.³³ This premise was illustrated in *Ray v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 145 A.D.3d 812, 813–14, 45 N.Y.S.3d 108 (2016), where the court examined the effect of a *post*-foreclosure judgment, but *pre*-foreclosure sale, deed of property to a third-party. The court held that the mortgagor could transfer its interests in the mortgaged premises, which were the subject of the

³² Courts in other jurisdictions have similarly found that when a holder of a deed in lieu continues with a foreclosure sale, the deed in lieu is effectively rejected. See, e.g., *In re Shaw*, No. 11-30032, 2012 WL 1190695, at *6 (Bankr. E.D. Ky. Apr. 9, 2012) (“Farmers' revival of the state court foreclosure lawsuit strongly contradicts Farmers' acceptance of the deed.”).

³³ “Unless divested of the property through a foreclosure sale, a mortgagor has an alienable estate in the property.” 27 S.C. Jur. Mortgages § 49.

foreclosure judgment, to a third-party before the foreclosure sale; however, the foreclosure sale and resulting referee's deed would divest that third-party's rights and title in favor of the winning bidder at the foreclosure sale:

Accordingly, until such time as the foreclosure sale took place on November 21, 2008, Murray remained the owner of the premises, and could, and did, transfer her full interest in the premises to Ray via the deed dated December 14, 2007. However, since Ray was made a defendant in the foreclosure action, all his interest in the property was foreclosed once the property was sold at auction and the title was conveyed to CHF via the referee's deed.

(*See id.* at 813–14) (internal citations omitted). In *Ray*, as is the case here, the winning bidder at the foreclosure sale was the plaintiff in the foreclosure action. (*See id.* at 812) (“On November 21, 2008, the property was sold to CHF at public auction, and title was conveyed to CHF by referee’s deed.”). The court found that even though the mortgaged premises may have been validly deeded to Ray during the time between foreclosure and sale, the transfer was subject to the pending foreclosure action. (*See id.*). As a result, the foreclosure sale divested Ray of any ownership in the property, and this was especially so because Ray was a party the foreclosure action. *See id.* at 813-14.

Appellants have maintained that the Deed in Lieu executed during the time between foreclosure and sale unequivocally transferred all of K&H's Property and Rights in Mount Vintage to LL. (*See, e.g.,* R. 329:6-14; *see also* App. Br. at 16). However, at the time the Deed in Lieu was given, there were at least two Lis pendens which affected K&H's ability to freely transfer the Property and Rights in Mount Vintage. *See In re Shiver*, 598 B.R. 221, 230 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2019) (“South Carolina law provides that a lis pendens places a cloud on title to the property that prevents the owner of the property from freely transferring it before the litigation is resolved.”). K&H could not transfer to LL what it did not own; here, that would be unclouded ownership of the Property and Rights in Mount Vintage. *See Cummings v. Varn*, 307 S.C. 37, 42, 413 S.E.2d 829, 832 (1992)

(“No deed can convey an interest which the grantor does not have in the land described in the deed, even though by its terms the deed may purport to do so.”). Appellants acknowledge this, saying:

[T]here is great caution that is made to lenders about just accepting a deed in lieu because you don't know what other junior claims might be out there that could compromise your ability to, in the future, convey the property, or do any financing of the property, or whatever. And so the advice that's out there, at least that I've read by practitioners that do this, is if you take a deed in lieu, either do the foreclosure behind it so you can extinguish any of those other claims that might be out there, or do a quiet title, but get the certainty to yourself if you want to have good, clean, marketable title.

(R. 335:13-24).

If Appellants acknowledge that clean and marketable title to K&H's Property and Rights could only be achieved through the Special Referee Deed given at the conclusion of the Foreclosure Action, then the Court may be wondering what controversy or issue is left for it to decide. Because Appellants are coy in their language, Respondents will state it more clearly: Appellants are asking this Court to find that the Special Referee Deed was a “back-door quiet title action;” that it succeeded in securing clean title but did not actually pass title to RTI; and that instead of being a deed, it was a merely a declaratory judgment clarifying clean ownership of the Property and Rights in Mount Vintage. This Court can rely entirely on South Carolina jurisprudence to reject Appellants' argument.

V. To the Extent Such an Argument is Preserved, Any Subsidiary Relationship Which May Exist Between LL and RTI Does Not Affect the Developer Rights Granted to RTI in the Special Referee Deed

In their statement of facts, Appellants assert that “[RTI] is a wholly owned subsidiary of LLSC” by virtue of an assignment executed by Raiford which purported to assign all of Raiford's interests in RTI to LL. (*See* App. Br. at 5, 7). Appellants do not, however, argue to this Court that the subsidiary relationship affects the issues on appeal. Therefore, any such argument (to the extent it may be raised in reply) has been waived. *See, e.g., Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C.

102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct.App.1993) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”); *see also Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) (“[A]n argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief.”). However, in an abundance of caution, Respondents will briefly address the issue of RTI’s “subsidiary” relationship with LL.

As an initial matter, the “Assignment of Interest” on which Appellants rely was executed in September of 2014 and was *backdated* to December 31, 2013. (*See* R. 323:19-23; R. 337:18-19; *see also* Statement of Relevant Facts, *supra*). To the extent RTI is a subsidiary of LL, which Respondents are not conceding, it was not a subsidiary until approximately ten (10) months after the issuance of the Special Referee Deed to RTI.

Even if RTI became a subsidiary of LL on December 31, 2013, it would not alter the effect of the Special Referee’s Deed granting all Property and Rights in Mount Vintage to RTI. A parent company does not own the assets or the debts of its subsidiary, even a wholly owned subsidiary. *See Hunting v. Elders*, 359 S.C. 217, 223, 597 S.E.2d 803, 809 (Ct. App. 2004) (“[A] corporation and a shareholder are separate and distinct, and the debts of the corporation are not the debts of the shareholder.”); *see also Kreisler v. Goldberg*, 478 F.3d 209, 213 (4th Cir. 2007) (“It is a fundamental precept of corporate law that each corporation is a separate legal entity with its own debts and assets, even when such corporation is wholly owned by another corporate entity.”). Furthermore, there has never been an assignment of Developer’s Rights from RTI to LL. Therefore, LL did not (and does not) own the assets of RTI, including Developer’s Rights. Appellants constructively conceded this point when RTI deeded over a large portion of the lots it received in the Special Referee Deed to LL in 2018. (*See* R. 336:5-6).

VI. Respondents Have Consistently Questioned Whether RTI or LL Received Developer Rights

Appellants assert that Respondents' motion regarding who holds developer rights in Mount Vintage was an "11th-hour injection" of a "late-stage litigation stratagem" that "almost worked," and further that this was the first time Respondents asserted that RTI, not LL, received developer rights via the November 2013 Special Referee Deed. (App. Br. at 25). These statements are demonstrably false.

Respondents have consistently questioned whether RTI or LL received developer rights through the foreclosure process, and Appellants have consistently taken the position that it does not matter which entity received these rights (or even which entity currently holds these rights) because RTI and LL are "the same." (*See* R. 1292) ("Raiford Topsail Island Investments, LLC is wholly owned by LL of SC, LLC."); (*See also* R. 1295:23-1296:19) ("[LL of SC], LLC and Raiford Topsail Island, all of it is "one and the same").

Indeed, a component of Respondents' damage claim is (and has always been) that only the Class "A" Member under the governing documents—the "Developer"—is entitled to receive the benefit of not having to pay dues on lots it owns. (*See* R. 23 at ¶ 47). To combat Respondents' argument that LL must pay dues on its lots if RTI is the developer or that RTI must pay dues on lots that it owns if LL is the developer,³⁴ Appellants have, for at least three (3) years, taken the above position—that the two are "one and the same." Appellants argue that it does not matter what entity owns the non-dues paying "Developer" lots because RTI and LL are the same, interchangeable, owned by the same person(s), etc. Appellants put it most succinctly when they

³⁴ Courts have rejected the notion that shareholders or affiliates of a developer are able to take advantage of dues exemptions extended to the named developer under the applicable governing documents. *See Sun Valley Iowa Lake Ass'n v. Anderson*, 551 N.W.2d 621, 640 (Iowa 1996).

said, “[t]he issue of who holds developer rights is much ado about absolutely nothing.” (See R. 705) (emphasis added). Appellants argued:

At its core, Plaintiffs’ argument is that Raiford Topsail Island Investments, LLC holds developer rights in Mount Vintage, not LL of SC. This leads to an obvious question: *Does it matter?*

(*See id.*). Again, to sustain their position that neither RTI nor LL should pay dues on the lots they own, Appellants’ argument *was* that the issue of who holds developer rights as between LL and RTI *does not matter* because the two companies are the same. Now, Appellants maintain that the question is of great import. In truth, Respondents have always questioned this issue, but Appellants ignored it because, to them, it was “much ado about nothing.”

VII. Appellants’ Section Regarding the “Impact” of the Order is Inappropriate, Unpreserved, Not on Appeal, and Should Be Disregarded

Appellants have already successfully convinced this Court that the Order now on appeal concerned an issue that warranted immediate review. The potential impact of the Order, if affirmed, is irrelevant to a *de novo* review of the Order itself. None of the arguments proffered by Appellants in this final section of their Initial Brief are properly before this Court because these arguments were not ruled upon in the Order. The Order made no findings as to (1) who currently holds developer rights; (2) whether RTI or LL abandoned developer rights; (3) whether LL is acting as a “rogue” developer; or (4) whether the current HOA board is properly appointed. (*See* App. Br. at 24-25). *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and **ruled upon** by the trial court. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”) (emphasis added).³⁵

³⁵ Contrary to Appellants’ prayer for relief, which asks this Court to reverse for any basis that may appear from the record, “[a]n appellate court may not, of course, *reverse* for any reason appearing

VIII. Alternatively, the Trial Court’s Summary Judgment Order on a Question of Law Was Not Immediately Appealable and Therefore This Appeal Should Be Dismissed.

Perhaps with the benefit of the additional information detailed here, this Court can better contextualize Respondents’ arguments in return to Appellants’ Petition for Supersedeas, which Respondents incorporate herein in full. Namely, that by deciding an issue of law- here, the interpretation of an unambiguous instrument- no party has come to the “end of the road.” As it relates to the immediate appealability of questions of law, this Court in *Watson* explained that:

[a] judgment that determines what law is applicable but leaves questions of fact unsettled is not a final judgment. Additionally, a decree or judgment that leaves in doubt whether the plaintiff will prevail is not final. An order is not immediately appealable when appellants have not arrived at the end of the road and would be able to appeal the decision after the trial was finished.

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